
Contact: Rachel Graves -  rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
To register to speak on an application please email: Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 

Northern Planning Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday 25th June 2025 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield, SK10 1EA 
 

Please note that members of the public are requested to check the Council's 
website the week the Northern Planning Committee meeting is due to take place as 
Officers produce updates for some or all of the applications prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and after the agenda has been published 
 

 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the top of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded, and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website. 
 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in 
any item on the agenda and for Members to declare if they have a pre-
determination in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2025 as a correct record. 

 
4. Public Speaking   
 
 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 

following: 
 

• Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee 

• The relevant Town/Parish Council 
 
A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following individuals/groups: 
 

• Members who are not members of the planning committee and are not the 
Ward Member 

• Objectors 

• Supporters 

• Applicants 
 

5. 24/2602M - NEW BARN FARM, CHELFORD ROAD, OLLERTON, KNUTSFORD, 
CHESHIRE EAST, WA16 8SZ: Demolition of existing equestrian buildings, 
construction of dwellings and alterations to access (Pages 9 - 42) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
6. 24/4944/FUL - HEYES LANE TENNIS CLUB, THE CIRCUIT, ALDERLEY EDGE, 

CHESHIRE EAST, SK9 7LT: Installation of New Court Lighting for all 3 courts 
(Pages 43 - 56) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
 
 
 
 
Membership:  Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, T Dean, K Edwards, A Farrall, 
A Harrison, S Holland, T Jackson, J Smith, J Snowball, F Wilson (Vice-Chair) and 
M Warren (Chair) 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Northern Planning Committee 
held on Wednesday, 23rd April, 2025 in The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, 

Macclesfield SK10 1EA 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor D Jefferay (Chair) 
Councillor F Wilson (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, T Dean, D Edwardes, K Edwards, 
A Harrison, S Holland, T Jackson and J Smith 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
 
Paul Wakefield, Planning Team Leader  
Andrew Poynton, Planning and Highways Lawyer  
Chris Hudson, Arboricultural and Ecology Team Leader   
Emma Fairhurst, Principal Arboricultural Officer  
Fiona Reynolds, Senior Planning Officer  
Neil Jones, Development Officer, Infrastructure   
Jennifer Ashley, Democratic Services Officer  
 

 
23 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence received.  
 

24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION  
 
In the interest of openness, Councillor Bennett – Wake, declared that she 
was a neighbour of application 25/0233/HOUS and would leave the room 
for the duration of the item, not taking part in any discussion or vote on the 
application.  
 

25 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 13th November 2025 be approved 
as a correct record, subject to the inclusion of apologies being noted for 
Cllr Dean.  
 

26 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
That the public speaking procedure be noted.  
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



27 21/5803M - FRANK R MARSHALL AND CO, MARSHALL HOUSE 
CHURCH HILL, KNUTSFORD, CHESHIRE EAST, WA16 6DH  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application.  
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in favour of the application; 
 
Mr Colin Williams, Agent  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application be APPROVED, 
subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. Time limit for implementation – 3 years  
2. Development to be in accordance with approved plans  
3. Materials samples to be submitted  
4. Sample panel brickwork to be submitted  
5. Window and door details to be submitted  
6. Method for protection of internal historic features and surfaces to be 
submitted  
7. Details of historic features to be left in situ to be submitted  
8. Retained fabric to be made good – details to be submitted  
9. New services details to be submitted  
10.Details of underpinning to be submitted  
11.Method statement for cleaning and repair of historic brickwork to be 
submitted  
12.Details of treatment of historic fabric abutting extensions to be 
submitted   
13.Details of retention of internal screens to be submitted  
14.Cycle parking details to be submitted  
15.Drainage details to be submitted  
16.Landscaping details and implementation including boundaries to be 
submitted  
17.Noise mitigation to be implemented  
18.Hours of opening  
19.Biodiversity enhancements to be submitted  
20.Testing of imported soil for contamination  
21.Action required in event of unidentified contamination  
22. Submission of tree protection, tree retention and tree method 
statement 
 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated authority to 
do so in consultation with the Chair of the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision. 

Page 4



28 21/5804M - LISTED BUILDING CONSENT: FRANK R MARSHALL AND 
CO, MARSHALL HOUSE CHURCH HILL, KNUTSFORD, CHESHIRE 
EAST, WA16 6DH  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application.  
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in favour of the application; 
 
Mr Colin Williams, Agent  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That for the reasons set out in the report, the application be APPROVED, 
subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. Time limit for implementation – 3 years  
2. Development to be in accordance with approved plans  
3. Materials samples to be submitted  
4. Sample panel brickwork to be submitted  
5. Window and door details to be submitted  
6. Method for protection of internal historic features and surfaces to be 
submitted  
7. Details of historic features to be left in situ to be submitted  
8. Retained fabric to be made good – details to be submitted  
9. New services details to be submitted  
10.Details of underpinning to be submitted  
11.Method statement for cleaning and repair of historic brickwork to be 
submitted  
12.Details of treatment of historic fabric abutting extensions to be 
submitted  
13.Details of retention of internal screens to be submitted 
14. Level 2 Historic Building Survey to be undertaken  
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated authority to 
do so in consultation with the Chair the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision. 
 

29 24/4319/HOUS - LOWER BROOK CROFT SMITHY LANE, RAINOW, 
MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE EAST, SK10 5UP  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the application be APPROVED, as recommended, subject to the 
following conditions; 

Page 5



 
1. Time period for implementation – three years  
2. Development to be in accordance with approved plans  
3. Materials as application (roof material to be natural slate)  
4. Removal of existing container  
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated authority to 
do so in consultation with the Chair of the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.  
 

30 25/0233/HOUS - 2 DELAMERE DRIVE, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE 
EAST, SK10 2PW  
 
Councillor Bennett–Wake left the room.  
 
Consideration was given to the above application.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the application be APPROVED, as recommended, subject to the 
following conditions; 
 
1. Time Limit (3 years)  
2. Development in accord with approved plans  
3. Materials to be as per the application, to match the main dwelling.  
4. Boundary treatment details to be submitted  
 
In order to give proper effect to the Committee`s intent and without 
changing the substance of its decision, authority is delegated to the Head 
of Planning in consultation with the Chair (or in their absence the Vice 
Chair) to correct any technical slip or omission in the resolution, before 
issue of the decision notice. 
 

31 CHESHIRE EAST BOROUGH COUNCIL (KNUTSFORD - 82 KING 
STREET) TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2024  
 
Councillor Bennett–Wake returned to the room.  
 
Consideration was given to the above Tree Preservation Order.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Tree Preservation Order be CONFIRMED, with no modifications.  
 
 
 

Page 6



 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 12.00 pm 
 

Councillor D Jefferay (Chair) 
 

 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Application No: 24/2602M 

Application Type: Outline Planning 

Location: New Barn Farm Chelford Road, Ollerton, Knutsford, Cheshire East, 

WA16 8SZ 

Proposal: Demolition of existing equestrian buildings, construction of dwellings 

and alterations to access   

Applicant: SF (NW) Ltd 

  

 
 
Summary:  
 
• The application seeks outline residential development.  
• Indicative plans submitted with the scheme show 13 dwellings. 
• The site is within the Green Belt. 
• The site is currently a commercial livery and stables and is considered to be previously 

developed.  
• The openness of the Green Belt is impaired by the existing development. 
• The proposals, on balance, would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green 

Belt, passing the tests in CELPS Policy PG3.  
• The proposals would not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, 

passing tests in the NPPF.  
• It is considered the site, on balance, is in a sustainable location, especially given its lawful 

commercial use and its associated existing transport impacts.  
• The scheme would provide 30% Affordable Housing, on-site open space provision, and an 

education contribution.  
• There are some concerns to the layout proposed on the indicative scheme, in that the 

housing mix is rather unbalanced, but this could be remedied at reserved matters stage. 
• Local concerns are mainly regarding the amount of residential development in this rural 

area, and the drainage of the site.  
• There are no technical objections to the scheme.  
 
Summary Recommendation:  
 
APPROVE subject to conditions and S.106 legal agreement. 
 

 
1. REASON FOR REFERRAL: 

 
1.1. The application relates to a ‘Small-Scale Major Development1’, and under the 

terms of the Constitution it is required to be determined by the Northern Planning 
Committee. 

 
1 residential developments of 20-199 dwellings or between 1ha and 4ha 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
1.2. This application was also subject to a ‘call-in’ request from Councillor Anthony 

Harrison. Councillor Harrison sought the call-in for the following reasons: - 
 
1.2.1. That the proposed development is considered to be of a significant scale 

(13 dwellings) for this rural parish, particularly as the site is adjacent to an 
already approved residential development site (22/0783M; 10 dwellings); 
and; 
 

1.2.2. That local issues relating to drainage and watercourse pollution are likely 
to be exacerbated by the proposed residential development which will have 
a detrimental impact on wildlife and adjoining land. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT: 

 
2.1. The application site extends to approximately 1.13 hectares and is located on the 

north side of Chelford Road, in Ollerton, between Chelford and Knutsford.  
 

2.2. The site comprises stable buildings, associated storage and an indoor riding arena 
and ancillary residential accommodation. 
 

2.3. The site is within the Green Belt but forms part of a cluster of developments. These 
include an industrial site to the east (with planning permission for residential 
redevelopment), and a home furniture shop and dwelling to the south on the 
opposite side of the road. There are other commercial businesses (including a 
timber merchant), a short distance to the east. 
  

2.4. The site is screened from Chelford Road by mature landscaping.  
 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL: 
 

3.1. The application seeks outline planning permission for the demolition of the existing 
buildings, removal of paraphernalia associated with the existing uses and 
redevelopment of the site for residential purposes. 
 

3.2. This application includes details of access and scale. All other matters are 
reserved for subsequent approval. An indicative layout and indicative landscaping 
scheme have been provided illustrating how 13 dwellings could be accommodated 
on the site. 
 

3.3. The indicative proposal would include alterations to the existing access from 
Chelford Road and the construction of 9 four-bedroom detached, and 4 two-
bedroom semi-detached dwellings. The semi-detached units would be affordable 
dwellings. 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
 
Application Site: 
 

Page 10



 

 

4.1. A positive Certificate of Lawful Existing Use was issued on 15 August 2007 for the 
existing dwelling to be occupied in connection with the use of the equestrian 
centre, under reference 06/2928P. 
 

4.2. Planning Permission was granted on 23 November 2009 for the use of land and 
buildings for livery, training centre and horse-riding school, under reference 
09/0482M. This permission also included parking, and the alterations to an 
existing building to form an office, reception, storage, and rest room. 
 

4.3. Planning Permission was granted on 8 April 2010 for the construction of a building 
to provide an indoor riding arena on an existing manége, under reference 
09/4311M. 
 

4.4. Planning Permission was granted on 4 October 2012 for an extension to the 
existing residential accommodation into the adjoining reception area, under 
reference 12/2269M. 
 
Others:  
 

4.5. The site located immediately adjacent, (known as Oakwood Nurseries), has been 
approved for redevelopment, as outline planning permission was approved in July 
2023, for up to 10 dwellings, (reference 22/0783M). 
 

4.6. That site was slightly smaller than this application site, being some 1 hectares in 
size. That site comprised 12 warehouse type buildings and greenhouses, which 
were formerly used by a nursery and landscaping business with an office and 
gravelled car parking area. 
 

4.7. That approval secured 30% Affordable Housing (3 units), Public Open Space 
including play space provision (comprising of a Local Area for Play) (LAP), and 
also an on-site provision of allotments. 
 

4.8. The reserved matters detailing the layout, scale, landscaping, and appearance of 
the 10 dwellings has recently been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
 

5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the 
Government in March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets 
out the planning policies for England and how these should be applied in the 
determination of planning applications and the preparation of development plans. 
At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into account for the 
purposes of decision making. 
 

5.2. Following consultation in the summer, the Government has now published an 
updated version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) applicable in 
England. The key points of note in the new document are: - 

 

Page 11



 

 

• The Standard Method to assess the level of housing need increases by circa 
20% in England; 

• A six-year housing land supply requirement comes into effect for local 
authorities with a local plan housing requirement over five years old, where it 
is 80% or less of the level set by the new Standard Method; 

• The introduction of Grey Belt and clarification on circumstances whereby 
Green Belt land can be released for development; 

• The level of affordable housing required on housing sites removed from the 
Grey / Green Belt; 

• The approach to the sequential test for assessing Flood Risk; and 
• The transition arrangements for the application of the new NPPF for decision 

taking and plan making. 
 
Previously Developed Land (PDL) in the Green Belt the NPPF: 
 

5.3. With specific relation to this site, paragraph 154g has been amended, which states 
that an exception to development in the Green Belt includes “limited infilling or the 
partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land (including a 
material change of use to residential or mixed use including residential), whether 
redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not 
cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt”. 
 

5.4. The definition of Previously Developed Land has also been updated to read as 
follows. “Land which has been lawfully developed and is or was occupied by a 
permanent structure and any fixed surface infrastructure associated with it, 
including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed 
that the whole of the curtilage should be developed). It also includes land 
comprising large areas of fixed surface infrastructure such as large areas of 
hardstanding which have been lawfully developed. Previously developed land 
excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; 
land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, 
where provision for restoration has been made through development management 
procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation 
grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the 
remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into  
the landscape”. Changes emphasised in bold.  
 

6. DEVELOPMNET PLAN POLICIES: 
 

6.1. By virtue of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the 
application should be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

6.2. For the purposes of considering the current proposals, the development plan 
consists of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS), The Site Allocations 
and Development Policies Document (SADPD), and in some regard, The Ollerton 
with Marthall Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP).  
 
Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) 2017: 
 

Page 12



 

 

6.3. CELPS was adopted in July 2017 and sets out policies to guide development 
across the borough over the plan period to 2030. The relevant policies of the 
CELPS are summarised below: 
 
• MP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
• PG1 Overall Development Strategy 
• PG2 Settlement Hierarchy 
• PG7 Spatial Distribution of Development 
• SD1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 
• SD2 Sustainable Development Principles 
• IN1 Infrastructure 
• IN2 Developer Contributions 
• SC1 Leisure and Recreation 
• SC3 Health and Well-being 
• SC4 Residential Mix 
• SE1 Design 
• SE2 Efficient Use of Land 
• SE3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
• SE4 The Landscape 
• SE5 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 
• SE8 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
• SE9 Energy Efficient Development 
• SE12 Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability 
• SE13 Flood Risk and Water Management 
• CO1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 
• CO4 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 
• Appendix C Parking Standards 

 
Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) 2022 

 
6.4. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) is the second 

part of the Cheshire East Local Plan and provides detailed planning policies and 
land allocations in line with the overall approach set out in the Local Plan Strategy. 
The SADPD was adopted as part of the development plan at the Full Council 
meeting on 14 December 2022. The relevant policies of the SADPD are 
summarised below: - 
 
• PG9 Settlement Boundaries 
• GEN1 Design principles 
• ENV1 Ecological network 
• ENV2 Ecological implementation 
• ENV5 Landscaping 
• ENV6 Trees, hedgerows, and woodland implementation 
• ENV7 Climate Change 
• ENV12 Air quality 
• ENV14 Light pollution 
• ENV15 New development and existing uses 
• ENV16 Surface water management and flood risk 

Page 13



 

 

• ENV17 Protecting water resources. 
• HOU2 Specialist housing provision 
• HOU8 Space, accessibility, and wheelchair housing standards 
• HOU10 Backland development 
• HOU11 Extension and alterations 
• HOU12 Amenity 
• HOU13 Residential standards 
• HOU14 Housing density 
• HOU16 Small and medium sized sites 
• INF1 Cycleways, bridleways, and footpaths 
• INF3 Highways safety and access 
• INF9 Utilities 
• REC1 Open space protection 
• REC2 Indoor sport and recreation implementation 
• REC3 Open space implementation 
• REC5 Community facilities 

 
Ollerton with Marthall Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) 

 
6.5. The Ollerton with Marthall NDP is at Regulation 14 (Pre-submission Consultation) 

stage. This began on the 1 May 2022, and closed on the 13 June 2022. 
 

6.6. Only limited weight can be given to the policies below as this consultation is 
undertaken by the parish council and the LPA do not see the extent of any resolved 
objections and a judgement is made as to whether the NDP is in conformity with 
the Core Strategy and national policy. 

 
• ENV2 Trees, Hedgerows and Watercourses 
• ENV3 Surface Water Management and Sewerage 
• HOU1 Housing 
• HOU2 Housing Mix and Type 
• HOU3 Design 

 
7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 

 
7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the 

Development Plan but may be a material consideration in decision making. The 
following documents are considered relevant to this application: 
 
• SUDS SPD 
• Environmental Protection SPD 
• Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain SPD 
• Developer Contributions SPD 
• Cheshire East Design Guide SPD 
• Housing SPD 
• Housing Strategy 2013-2023 
• Nationally Described Spatial Standards 

 

Page 14



 

 

8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning):  
 
8.1. Ollerton with Marthall Parish Council:  

Object to the scheme for the following reasons: -  
• Ollerton and Marthall is washed over by the Green Belt and careful 

consideration should be afforded to maintain the openness of space and avoid 
harm caused by inappropriate development.  

• Green Belt designation is planning policy designed to manage growth and 
protect against inappropriate development and urban sprawl. Ollerton has no 
additional housing need; no strategic sites are identified in the CELPS; and it 
is not an 'infill village' in the SADPD. 

• Approval of housing on this site has the potential to accelerate the process of 
urbanisation as other sites can argue 'precedent' and 'infilling'. Lack of housing 
need and of any Development Plan spatial provision or policy requirements for 
housing in this area justifies Objection. 

• Despite this being a small parish, Ollerton has seen a significant amount of 
development. 

• Chelford road is facing urbanisation at an accelerated rate, and this is changing 
the rural character of this community. 

• The Parish Council are greatly concerned regarding the environmental impact 
of both developments on Marthall Brook, there is a recognised issue right now 
even before the construction of any housing. 

• Being a small Parish, it is established that Ollerton does not have any housing 
targets and has currently seen a large amount of development given the limited 
infrastructure available. Unfortunately, the type of housing we would like to see, 
which would benefit the community, is not being built, just luxury high value 
properties. 

• Another major issue is that buildings which have an employment function are 
being converted at an alarming rate into dwellings (causing loss of employment 
sites) and then further unnecessary agricultural buildings are requested. 

• The Parish Council would like Members to consider dark skies at night and the 
impact on wildlife, the urbanisation of this area by two large housing 
developments will impact light pollution. Especially as both developments are 
close to the golf driving range which erected lighting without planning consent 
and existing lights cause issues with residents who are facing the flood lights. 

• The most recent application Ollerton has failed to provide affordable rentable 
units as promised. The option now being discussed is shared ownership of a 
high value property, which will not be within the reach of young local people.  

• Consultants Resolve 106 for this application have claimed that the registered 
providers do not want to take on this scheme, for reasons such as, a small 
number of properties which are also distant from their other schemes. 
However, we would strongly encourage Resolve 106 to look beyond their 
scheme, as right next door the development for 10 houses has affordable 
housing and Ollerton Oak another 10 houses, is also looking for a registered 
provider.  

• The Resolve 106 report also mentions that the developer can offer discounted 
properties, however they could also offer them as rentals. We request that a 
cascade approach is applied to the affordable houses within the 106 
agreements, in order that local residents have priority during the allocation 

Page 15



 

 

process. Also, that any affordable units are designated as such in perpetuity to 
ensure their long-term availability and that permitted development rights are 
removed or other restrictions included keeping these properties affordable for 
future generations. 

 
8.2. United Utilities:  

No objections, subject to conditions. 
 

8.3. Flood Risk Manager:  
No objections, subject to conditions.  
 

8.4. Environmental Health: 
No objections, subject to conditions. 
 

8.5. Countryside and Rights of Way:  
No objections, subject to an Informative. 
 

8.6. Cheshire East Highways:  
No objections, subject to conditions. 
 

8.7. Strategic Housing: 
No objections, subject to a S106.  
 

8.8. Education Dept: 
No objections, subject to a S106. 
 

8.9. ANSA Greenspace: 
No objections, subject to on-site Greenspace and Off-site Contributions. 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
9.1. The application has been duly advertised by means of direct neighbour notification 

letters and site notice.  
 

9.2. No letters of representations have been received. 
 

10. OFFICER APPRAISAL: 
 

The Principle of the Development:  
 

10.1. The site is located within the Green Belt. 
 

Whether the proposal is inappropriate development: 
 

10.2. The Framework identifies that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open, with the essential 
characteristics of the Green Belt being their openness and permanence. The 
Framework goes on to state that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.  

Page 16



 

 

 
10.3. The Framework further establishes that the construction of new buildings in the 

Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate, subject to a number of 
exceptions as set out in paragraph 154. One such exception, criterion (g) limited 
infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land 
(including a material change of use to residential or mixed use including 
residential), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not cause substantial harm to the openness of the 
Green Belt. 

 
10.4. Policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010 – 2030 (2017) 

(CELPS) mirrors the wording of the Framework in respect of the construction of 
new buildings in the Green Belt, including the listed exceptions. As such, 
CELPS Policy PG3 conforms with the provisions of the Framework. 

 
Previously Developed Land:  

 
10.5. The site is currently a commercial livery and stables. There are a number of 

existing buildings used for accommodation, an office and tack room. The site 
also includes car parking, a number of stables, a manége, a horse walker and 
covered show arena. Having regard to the planning history, the land has a clear 
lawful use for equestrian purposes which would fall within the above definition. 
Furthermore, the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction. 
Thus, the site is considered previously developed land.  

 
10.6. It is considered that the site meets the current and previous criterion of 

Previously Developed Land, in line with the first element of this exemption 
policy.  
 

10.7. However, the development needs to qualify as an exception rather than just the 
site to be considered an exception in terms of being not-inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt, to accord with CELPS Policy PG3(3)(vi), 
and paragraph 154 of the NPPF. 

 
10.8. Therefore, an assessment would still need to be made to ensure that the 

proposed would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 
 
Effect on Openness:  
 

10.9. The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental 
aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open. The essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. 
 

10.10. There is no definition of “openness” in the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ 
but, in the context of Green Belt Policy, it is generally held to refer to freedom 
from, or the absence of, development. Assessing the impact of a proposal on 
the openness of the Green Belt, where it is relevant to do so, requires a 
judgment based on the circumstances of the case. The impact of the 

Page 17



 

 

development compared with the existing development therefore should be 
assessed in both spatial and visual terms. 
 

10.11. The existing buildings on site are permanent and clearly not temporary 
structures which has been established in the planning history to be a 
commercial equestrian use. The openness of the Green Belt is affected by the 
existing development and built form. 
 

10.12. The site layout does not form part of this submission given that layout is 
reserved for approval at a later stage. However, to assist in the determination 
process, an indicative layout has been provided to assist with demonstrating 
how the open space could be provided on the site and to ensure the retention 
of existing trees.  
 

10.13. The site has five existing buildings, the largest being an indoor riding arena, 
with the other four being stables, storage, and ancillary accommodation. They 
are all served from a central southern access, with a yard between some of the 
small buildings to the southeast. There are storage areas to the northeast of the 
site, whilst fenced paddocks are to the north. Car parking areas are to the east 
and southeast.  
 

10.14. The proposed development would utilise the existing access, to a centralised 
area of open space, and the housing would cover the reminder of the site. It is 
considered that the housing would have a spatial impact on the Green Belt, 
simply by building on areas currently free from development, albeit parking and 
hardstanding. 
 

10.15.  The layout of the proposed dwellings has not been arranged with minimal space 
between them. The proposed layout has been arranged to allow clear views 
from the access through the site to the grazing land beyond which could 
enhance openness in visual terms. Compared with the current built 
development. 
 

10.16. In assessing the spatial effect on the openness of the Green Belt, an 
assessment is made in respect of the footprint, volume, and height of the 
existing buildings. The existing buildings have a footprint of 2,462m2. The 
existing buildings have a volume of 12,385m3. The ridge height of the existing 
show arena roof is 7.9m. 

 
 Existing Proposed % Change 
Footprint  2,462m2 1,342m2 -45.5% 
Volume  12,385m3 7,460m3 -39.8% 

 
10.17. The proposal would result in a significant reduction compared to the existing 

buildings on site, both in footprint, with a reduction of over 45%, and volume, 
with a reduction of nearly 40%. Whilst the heights of the dwellings would not be 
higher than the arena, this is the tallest building, and the houses would be 
higher than those. 
 

Page 18



 

 

10.18. The proposed dwellings would be well-screened from the road and surrounding 
dwellings. The site would be well screened by existing mature landscaping, 
proposed new landscaping and existing buildings. Many mature trees will be 
retained along the boundary. 
 

10.19. It is believed that the redevelopment of the site as shown on the indicative 
layout could have, albeit ‘on balance’, passed the ‘not have greater impact’ 
assessment. The scheme therefore would clearly pass the test of ‘not causing 
substantial harm’ assessment in the updated NPPF.  
 

10.20. It is therefore considered that scheme is an exception in terms of being not-
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, and it accord with paragraph 
154 of the NPPF, and albite to a lesser degree, CELPS Policy PG3(3)(vi). 
 
Housing Land Supply:  
 

10.21. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy was adopted on the 27th July 2017 and 
forms part of the statutory development plan. The plan sets out the overall 
strategy for the pattern, scale, and quality of development, and makes sufficient 
provision for housing (36,000 new dwellings over the plan period, equating to 
1,800 dwellings per annum) in order to meet the objectively assessed needs of 
the area.  
 

10.22. As the plan is more than five years old, deliverable housing land supply is 
measured using the local housing need figure (plus 5% buffer), which is 
currently 2,603 dwellings per year rather than the LPS figure of 1,800 dwellings 
per year.  

 
10.23. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies the circumstances 

in which relevant development plan policies should be considered out-of-date. 
These include: 

 
• Where a local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply 

of deliverable housing sites (with appropriate buffer) or: 
 

• Where the Housing Delivery Test Measurement indicates that the 
delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the 
housing required over the previous three years. 

 
10.24. In accordance with the NPPF, the council produces an annual update of housing 

delivery and housing land supply. The council’s most recent Housing Monitoring 
Update (base date 31 March 2024) was published in April 2025. The published 
report identifies a deliverable five-year housing land supply of 10,011 dwellings 
which equates to a 3.8-year supply measured against the five-year local 
housing need figure of 13,015 dwellings. 
 

10.25. The 2023 Housing Delivery Test Result was published by the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing & Communities on the 12 December 2024 and this 
confirms a Housing Delivery Test Result of 262%. Housing delivery over the 
past three years (7,392 dwellings) has exceeded the number of homes required 

Page 19



 

 

(2,820). The publication of the HDT result affirms that the appropriate buffer to 
be applied to the calculation of housing land supply in Cheshire East is 5%.  
 

10.26. In the context of five-year housing land supply, relevant policies concerning the 
supply of housing should be considered out-of-date and consequently the ‘tilted 
balance’ at paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. 
 

10.27. Cheshire East is now, therefore, not able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. It is recognised that the provision of 10 additional 
houses including 3 affordable units within the site would provide some social 
benefits to the area. The scheme would also help to provide family housing on 
a ‘previously developed’ site within Cheshire East, which both locally and 
nationally is shown to be in demand. 
 

10.28. The proposed development will help to maintain a flexible and responsive 
supply of land for housing, albeit a small addition. Some direct and indirect 
benefits for the local economy will also be evident, including additional trade for 
local shops and businesses, jobs in construction and economic benefits to the 
construction industry supply chain could also be supported within the local area 
and wider Cheshire East environment. It is acknowledged that, whilst these 
economic benefits would exist, they are considered to be relatively minor. 
 
Sustainable Location:  
 

10.29. Paragraph 110 of the Framework seeks to actively manage patterns of growth 
to support the objectives in Paragraph 109 of the Framework. In this instance, 
the most relevant objective in Paragraph 109 (when considering whether the 
development would be in a sustainable location for the purposes of Paragraph 
155 of the Framework) is pursuing opportunities to promote walking, cycling 
and public transport using a vision-led approach.   
 

10.30. This objective needs to be considered in the context that Paragraph 110 also 
states that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport will vary between 
urban and rural areas. 
 

10.31. In other words, some allowance should be made for a site’s rural location. 
However, that does not mean that all sites in rural areas should be considered 
equally. Some will be better placed for development than others when 
considering access to services and facilities. 
 

10.32. As Members are aware, our Development Plan sets out what can be described 
as a vision-led approach to the sustainable location of development through a 
spatial strategy. It seeks to direct development to built-up areas with the precise 
location depending on accessibility to facilities by suitable travel modes. Thus, 
the development plan identifies sustainable locations for development through 
Policies MP1 and PG1.  
 

10.33. That said, CELPS Policy SD1 (Sustainable Development in Cheshire East) 
states that we should “make best use of previously developed land where 
possible”. In addition, CELPS Policy SE2 (Efficient Use of Land) states that “the 

Page 20



 

 

council will encourage the redevelopment / re-use of previously developed land 
and buildings”. 
 

10.34. In terms of the site sustainability assessment, CELPS Policy SD2 is supported 
with a guidance Table 9.1 which recommends the distances to local services 
and amenities. The application site performs as follows: 

 
Criteria 
 

Recommended Description Distance 

Public Transport 
Bus Stop 500m Seven Sisters Lane 

Request Stop 
1.4km 
20m 

Public Right of Way 
 

500m Ollerton FP18 40m 

Railway Station 
 

2km Chelford Railway St  2.7km 

Open Space 
Amenity Open 
Space 

500m Oaklands Rd Play 
Area 
Oakwood Nursery  
On site  

1.3km 
50m 
10m 

Children's 
Playground 
 

500m Oaklands Rd Play 
Area  

1.3km 

Outdoor Sports 500m The Beeches Golf  
 

300m 

Public Park/Village 
Green 

1km Oaklands Rd Play 
Area  

1.3km 

Services and Amenities 
Convenience Store  500m Londis Chelford  

 
2.5km  

Supermarket  1km Londis Chelford 
Aldi Knutsford  

2.5km 
4.2km  

Post Box  500m Ollerton Lodge Post 
Box  
 

500m 

Post Office  1km Chelford  
 

2.65km 

Bank or Cash 
Machine  
 

1km Shell Chelford ATM 3.3km 

Pharmacy  1km Knutsford  
 

4.5km 

Primary School  1km Chelford CE Primary 
 

2.4km 

Secondary School  1km Knutsford Academy  
 

4.7km 

Medical Centre  1km Chelford Surgery 
 

2.5km 

Page 21



 

 

Leisure Facilities  1km The Beeches Golf 
Village Hall 
(classes)  

300m 
1.1km 

Local Meeting 
Place / Community 
Centre  

1km The Hall at Marthall 1.1km 

Public House  1km The Beeches Golf 
The Dun Cow 
Country  

300m 
1.6km 

Child Care Facility 
(nursery or crèche)  

1km Chelford pre-school 
Kids Country Day 
Nursery 

2.4km 
 

 
PASS 
FAIL 
BALANCED 

 
10.35. In summary, the application site is not highly sustainable in terms of its access 

to a range of everyday services by walking but there are some facilities nearby 
that pedestrians could reach. Cycling and Bus Travel are not a realistic option. 
Overall, there is a mixed picture regarding the ability of future occupants to 
pursue or prioritise sustainable transport in accordance with the vision in the 
development plan.  
 

10.36. The site is currently a commercial livery, and although it employs only one 
person, it must have comings and goings for lessons and events. It is 
impossible for that use to function with combined public transport modal trips.  
 

10.37. Further, the NPPF in dealing with the 154(g) exception anticipates that rural 
sites such as the application site may be brought forward, as highly accessible 
locations in key service centres are not always found within Green Belt 
locations.  
 

10.38. The proposed houses could all have sufficient space for bike storage, and a 
condition requiring submission of a plan showing a dedicated cycle storage area 
within each dwelling could be secured.  
 

10.39. Overall, when accounting for the type of development and as a previously 
developed site, Officers are satisfied that the application proposals would be in 
a sustainable location for the purposes of Paragraph 154 of the Framework. 

 
Loss of employment/outdoor recreation:  
 

10.40. Policy EG3 of the CELPS requires existing employment sites to be protected 
for employment use and sets out the scenarios where exemptions can be made. 
Whilst the proposal would result in a loss of employment on the site, the site is 
not used for any purposes falling within B1, B2 or B8 as outlined in the policy 
and therefore the development would not conflict with this policy. It is clear that 
the site has been marketed for rental, and it is understood that an equestrian 
use on the site is struggling due to the location of the busy main road. Whilst 

Page 22



 

 

Outdoor sport, leisure, and recreation uses outside of settlement boundaries 
have some policy support for the rural economy2, they have no protection.  

 
 Design: 
 

10.41. Policy SE1 of the CELPS refers to design and requires development to meet a 
list of criteria. Policy SD2 requires development to contribute positively to an 
area’s character and identity, creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness. Policy 
GEN1 of the SADPD sets out design principles. Policy RUR13 requires 
replacement buildings to not unduly harm the rural character of the countryside, 
by virtue of prominence, scale, bulk, or visual intrusion.  
 

10.42. The application seeks outline planning permission. An indicative site layout, 
outline elevations and landscaping have been provided. The proposed 
dwellings comprise a mix of detached and semi-detached dwellings, each with 
a private garden and private parking. The development provides scope for a 
landscaping scheme, which seeks to retain and enhance the existing mature 
landscaping on site as much as possible, whilst introducing new native trees 
and hedgerow along the site boundaries. The proposal should also be 
considered having regard to the context of the site. In this case planning 
permission has been approved for residential redevelopment of the adjacent 
site, although this has not yet commenced.  
 
Landscape impact:  
 

10.43. The planning application seeks outline consent with details of the layout 
reserved for subsequent approval. However, the indicative layout has been 
arranged with minimal space between them and arranged to allow clear views 
from the access through the site to the grazing land beyond. 
 

10.44. In visual terms, the site and the wider land parcel within the applicant’s 
ownership is enclosed by well-established landscaped boundaries, providing a 
very strongly defined boundary to the application site which consists of mature 
hedges and trees. The proposed dwellings would be well-screened from the 
road and surrounding dwellings. The property would be well screened by 
existing mature landscaping, proposed new landscaping and existing buildings. 
Many mature trees will be retained along the boundary. 
 
Housing Mix: 
 

10.45. SADPD Policy HOU1 (Housing Mix) states that, in line with CELPS Policy SC4 
(Residential mix), housing developments should deliver a range and mix of 
house types, sizes and tenures, which are spread throughout the site and that 
reflect and respond to identified housing needs and demands. 
 

 Policy Proposals 
1 bedroom 5% 0% 
2 bedroom 23% 30% 

 
2 see SADPD RUR 6 and 7 

Page 23



 

 

3 bedroom 53% 0% 
4 bedroom 15% 70% 
5+ bedroom 3% 0% 

 
10.46. As stated above, the application proposes an indicative housing mix of 9 four-

bedroomed detached dwellings, and 4 semi-detached two bedroomed 
dwellings. Although a relatively small-scale housing scheme, the mix proposed 
conflicts with the Policies SC4 and HOU1, with limited justification for the house 
types proposed. However, given that this application is in outline form, this detail 
will be dealt with at the Reserved Matters stage, and this issue is purely flagged 
at this stage. 
 

1. One reason to raise this is that the adjacent scheme currently being determined 
was submitted showing 7 four-bedroomed detached dwellings and 3 two-
bedroomed detached dwellings. So, of the combined schemes, 16 units (70%) 
would be four bed detached large units. Collectively, this would not result in a 
good mix and so a condition requiring a Housing Mix Assessment to be 
submitted with the future reserved matters application dealing with layout and 
scale is recommended. 
 

 Density:  
 

10.47. SADPD Policy HOU14 seeks new residential proposals to generally achieve a 
net density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare. Lower densities will only be 
supported where evidence is submitted which demonstrates this would be 
justified, such as the character of the surrounding area and wider landscape 
setting and site constraints. The density of the proposed development would 
represent 11.5 dwellings per hectare. 
 

10.48. A more compact redevelopment, with less four bedroomed properties would 
limit the conflict with Policy HOU14 of the SADPD. 

 
 Affordable Housing:  
 

10.49. SADPD Policy HOU2 (Specialist housing provision), and in the Council’s 
recently adopted Housing SPD. 
 

10.50. The policies state that in settlements with a population of 3,000 or more that we 
will negotiate for the provision of an appropriate element of the total dwelling 
provision to be for affordable housing on all unidentified ‘windfall’ sites of 15 
dwellings or more or larger than 0.4 hectares in size. 
 

10.51. The desired target percentage for affordable housing for all allocated sites will 
be a minimum of 30%, in accordance with the recommendations of the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment carried out in 2013. This percentage relates to the 
provision of both social rented and/or intermediate housing, as appropriate. 
Normally the Council would expect a ratio of 65/35 between social rented and 
intermediate housing. 
 

Page 24



 

 

10.52. The indicative layout comprises a proposal for 13 dwellings in total. On that 
basis an affordable housing provision of 30% is therefore required i.e. 4 units. 
Plots 10-13 of the indicative layout would be the affordable housing provision. 
 

10.53. The Council’s Housing Team has stated that the policy requirement of 30% 
affordable dwellings on site as intermediate tenure is acceptable. Adherence to 
the policy requirement of 65% rental and 35% intermediate would not appear 
possible due to the registered provider communications supplied, which 
confirmed noninterest in any rental homes for that area at this time. This would 
be secured by of s106 legal agreement. 

 
 Education:  

 
10.54. Cheshire East’s adopted policy on education contributions is set out in CELPS 

Policy IN1 and IN2 and in the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update.  
 

10.55. The Council’s Children’s Services Department have stated that the 
development is expected to impact on primary and secondary school places in 
the locality. Contributions which have been negotiated on other developments 
are factored into the forecasts both in terms of the increased pupil numbers and 
the increased capacity at schools in the area as a result of agreed financial 
contributions. The development of 13 dwellings on this site is expected to 
generate: 

 
Stage Calculation Number of Children 
Primary (13 x 0.29) Four 
Secondary (13 x 0.14) Two 
Special Educational Need (13 x 0.51 x 0.023%) Zero 

 
10.56. The 4 primary aged children expected from the application will exacerbate the 

shortfall of primary places within 2 safe walking miles of the development. In 
light of the Cheshire East Local Plan School Organisation implemented its 
mitigation plan to make extra school places available to meet the needs of the 
new development within this area. This has seen an increase in places at 
Holmes Chapel Comprehensive to meet the expected need. These places have 
not yet been fully funded by developer contributions therefore there is a 
requirement for 2 secondary school places. 
 

10.57. This contribution would be secured by way of a S106 Legal Agreement. As the 
scheme is in outline, a formula would be required. The formula for this 
calculation is 4 x £19,425.00 = £77,700.00 (Primary contribution) and 2 x 
£26,717.00 = £53,434.00 (Secondary contribution) in order for it to comply with 
Policy IN2 of CELPS. 
 

10.58. On the scheme currently submitted, an Education Contribution totalling 
£131,134.00 would be required, to alleviate forecast pressures. 
 
Public Open Space: 
 

Page 25



 

 

10.59. CELPS Policy SE6 and SADPD Policy REC3 set out the Council’s adopted 
standards for open space and play provision. The mechanisms for delivery are 
expanded upon with a Planning Obligations SPG document, which expects off-
site provision to be funded by means of a planning obligation. 
 

10.60. Each application and/or development site is considered individually, and the 
most appropriate option identified. The Council’s Greenspace Team have stated 
that on this occasion, play and amenity open space is required on site as the 
nearest facility is too far away to practically relate it to the development as it is 
over 1.75km away. The requirement is for 40 sqm per family dwelling. As part 
of the open space, some form of community gardening opportunity would be 
required which should cover the allotments requirement of 5sqm per family 
dwelling. 
 

10.61. The play element should be provided by way of a Local Area of Play (LAP), 
aimed at toddlers, and focus on imaginative and social play, embedded in a 
communal amenity area with communal gardening / productive planting. This 
amenity area should be seen as a way of creating identity and individuality for 
the site. Detailed design should be submitted as part of any subsequent 
application and prior to commencement alongside details of future 
management and maintenance, in perpetuity. 
 

10.62. A Recreation and Outdoor Sport (ROS) commuted sum would be required for 
offsite provision. This would be calculated in line with the Council’s SPD on 
Developer Contributions, based on dwelling / bedroom numbers. The 
commuted sum would be used in line with the councils adopted Playing Pitch 
and Outdoor Sports Strategy. The commuted sum would be required on 
commencement of development and would have a spend period of 20 years. 
 

10.63. Although the detailed design would be submitted as part of any subsequent 
application and prior to commencement alongside details of future 
management and maintenance, (in perpetuity), the layout has been updated to 
show how an amenity space could work, located centrally and in one location. 

 
 Highways access, parking, and pedestrian safety: 
 

10.64. CELPS Policy CO1 deals with Sustainable Travel and Transport. It seeks to 
encourage a shift away from car travel to public transport, cycling and walking. 
SADPD Policy INF3 relates to highway safety and access. It sets out the 
circulation and access criteria for new development. This includes amongst 
other matters, the provision of adequate visibility splays, manoeuvring vehicles, 
and emergency vehicles. 
 

10.65. As stated above, the accessibility of the site for residential development could 
be better. Although the site is linked to an existing footway on the development 
side of the A537, the site is not close to existing services and schools. In 
addition, there is no current bus services available on this section of the A537, 
and it is therefore likely that almost all trips would be car-based trips to and from 
the site. 
 

Page 26



 

 

10.66. A revised access is proposed to the site, the internal road width is 5.5m with a   
2m footway on both sides. The entry radius is improved to 6m. The available 
visibility is shown on the submit plans, and splays of 2.4m x 120m in both 
directions is provided. These are acceptable levels of visibility. 
 

10.67. In consideration of the traffic impact of the site, there is an existing equestrian 
use that generates trips which needs to be considered when assessing the 
residential impact. The net traffic impact of the site is very small arising from 13 
dwellings and is not a concern in regard to any capacity problems on the local 
road network. 
 

10.68. There is sufficient space remaining within the site for off-street parking provision 
to be in accordance with CEC parking standards. 
 

10.69. Overall, the access and internal site layout is acceptable, and the level of 
parking is sufficient to meet standards. There is no significant additional traffic 
generation from the residential proposals. The accessibility of the site is a 
concern although the level of development is low and also the approval of 
residential development on the adjacent site is a material consideration. 
Additionally, there is benefit in redeveloping previously developed sites. 
Therefore, there are no material highway implications associated with the 
proposals. 

 
 Ecology:  
 

10.70. CELPS Policy SE3 requires all (including conversions and that on brownfield 
and greenfield sites) to positively contribute to the conservation and 
enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity and should not negatively affect 
these interests. When appropriate, conditions will be put in place to make sure 
appropriate monitoring is undertaken and make sure mitigation, compensation 
and offsetting is effective. 

 
 Biodiversity Net Gain:  
 

10.71. The mandatory Biodiversity Gain Condition / Informative applies to this 
application.  
 

10.72. A Biodiversity Metric has been submitted in support of the proposed works, and 
a habitat net loss of -14.5% (-0.48 units) and a hedgerow net gain of +613.2% 
(+0.59 units) has been predicted.  
 

10.73. The assessment of existing habitats on site appears suitable, both within the 
metric and the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment. However, the metric is 
calculating a net loss for habitats, and the trading rules have not been met due 
to the loss of ‘Other Woodland; Broadleaved’ without like-for-like (or higher 
habitat distinctiveness) compensation. It should be noted that an application 
cannot be considered to achieve a net gain if trading rules are not met. 
 

10.74. It is important to consider the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy which sets out a list 
of priority actions, with the top priority being retention of medium or higher 

Page 27



 

 

distinctiveness habitat on site, and where this is unavoidable, mitigation for 
impacts to these habitats onsite. In the event that neither option is feasible, 
offsite compensation can then be considered. Under current proposals, the 
works will result in the loss of 0.05ha of other broadleaved woodland, which is 
a medium distinctiveness habitat. 
 

10.75. Resultantly, in order to be in line with the requirements of the Biodiversity Gain 
Hierarchy, the possibility of retaining the existing broadleaved woodland must 
be explored, or at a minimum, retaining as much broadleaved woodland as 
possible. It is therefore advised that the site is redesigned to safeguard the 
existing woodland, in accordance with the net gain hierarchy. By intention and 
design, Biodiversity Net Gain is a post consent matter. Whilst issues with the 
Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy cannot be a reason for planning refusal, the PPG 
advises that decision makers consider whether the mandatory biodiversity gain 
condition can be met, which will include the requirement to adhere to the 
biodiversity gain hierarchy. It is considered that the Condition could be met in 
this case.  

 
 Protected Species (Bats):  
 

10.76. The existing stables and barns were determined to offer low potential to support 
roosting bats. Subsequently, a single nocturnal survey was undertaken in July 
2024. No bats were observed to emerge from the existing buildings or 
containers on site and as result, bat should not present a constraint on this 
development.  
 

10.77. The Council’s Ecologist has confirmed that sufficient information regarding bats 
has been submitted to enable the Local Planning Authority to reach an informed 
decision in accordance with Circular 06/2005 and to discharge its duty in 
respect of the requirements of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019.  
 

10.78. Commuting and foraging bat activity was recorded on site, with the proposed 
development adjacent to favourable bat foraging areas. It is therefore 
recommended that a sensitive lighting scheme is secured to safeguard any 
nocturnal wildlife utilising the adjacent trees and waterbodies. 
 
Great Crested Newts (GCN):  
 

10.79. A pond is located within the redline boundary, with an additional pond 
immediately adjacent to the site. These ponds were surveyed for GCN and a 
survey of these ponds yielded negative results for the presence of GCN. There 
are additional ponds located within 250m of development; however, there are 
significant barriers that would limit the dispersal of GCN from these ponds (if 
present) to the proposed site. Furthermore, the existing habitats on site are sub-
optimal for GCN. It is therefore advised that GCN are unlikely to be impacted 
by the proposed works. 
 
Birds: 
 

Page 28



 

 

10.80. Historic evidence of nesting birds was recorded on site. Nesting birds are 
protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and subsequently, a 
breeding birds’ condition is recommended with any planning approval.  
 
Ecological Enhancements:  
 

10.81. The site falls within Cheshire East Council’s ecological network core and 
restoration areas, which forms part of the SADPD. Therefore, a condition is 
suggested to secure the submission of an Ecological Enhancement Plan. Such 
a plan would include (but are not limited to), hedgehog gaps in new fencing, 13 
Universal Nest Bricks or Sparrow Terraces, and 6 Bat Bricks or Bat Boxes. 
 

10.82. Therefore, subject to condition the application proposals do not cause any 
conflict with CELPS Policy SE3 nor SADPD Policy ENV1 or ENV2. 

 
 Arboricultural impacts:  
 

10.83. CELPS Policy SE5 relates to Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland. It seeks to 
protect trees, hedgerows, and woodlands, that provide a significant contribution 
to the amenity, biodiversity, landscape character of historic character of the 
surrounding area. SADPD Policy ENV6 seeks to protect trees and woodlands, 
worthy of formal protection, from development unless certain circumstances 
apply. 
 

10.84. An Arboricultural Statement has been submitted in support of the application 
which identifies four individual and four groups of moderate quality trees, four 
individual and three groups of low-quality ‘C Category’ trees, one poor quality 
‘U Category’ tree and a section of hedgerow. The Statement identifies tree 
removals necessary to widen the access to the site, and specific tree losses 
internal to the site. The Council’s Tree Officer has stated that the loss of these 
trees are acceptable and will not have a significant impact on the wider visual 
amenity of the area, subject to appropriate mitigation being provided elsewhere 
within the site. Therefore, the application proposals do not cause any conflict 
with CELPS Policy SE5 nor SADPD Policy ENV6.  
 

 Living Conditions:  
 

10.85. SADPD Policy HOU12 states that development proposals should not 
significantly injure the amenities of adjoining or nearby residential properties 
through loss of privacy, loss of sunlight/daylight, visual intrusion, noise and 
disturbance and traffic generation. SADPD Policy HOU13 sets out guidelines 
of space between buildings. 
 
Residential Amenity:   
 

10.86. The amenity of the new occupiers of the properties would not be injured due to 
the size of the plots and the layout of the development. Specific details and 
impacts would be considered at the reserved matters stage. As indicatively 
shown, there would be no loss of privacy, overbearing effect, loss of sunlight 
and daylight, noise or pollution impacts, hazardous industrial processes, or any 

Page 29



 

 

impacts on traffic generation and access. As such the proposal complies with 
SADPD Policies HOU12 and HOU13. 
 
Air Quality:  
 

10.87. Whilst this scheme itself is of a small scale, and as such would not require an 
Air Quality Impact Assessment, there is a need for the Local Planning Authority 
to consider the cumulative impact of a large number of developments in a 
particular area. In particular, the impact of transport related emissions on local 
air quality would require a condition regarding Electric Vehicle Infrastructure. 
The use of ultra-low emission boilers could also assist. 
 
Noise:   
 

10.88. Informatives are suggested to deal with noise generating activities, such as 
hours of construction and the use of pile foundations (if required). In order to 
minimise dust emissions arising during the development, including site 
preparations / demolition / construction activities at the site, a Dust 
Management Plan is also suggested. In terms of the new residents, a Noise 
Survey was submitted with the application. This report included a 24hr Noise 
Survey. This concluded that some modest noise mitigation measure may be 
necessary for the bedrooms in dwellings most exposed to road traffic noise.  
 
Contamination:  
 

10.89. The application is for a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to 
the presence of contamination. Residential properties are a sensitive end use 
and could be affected by any contamination present or brought onto the site. 
The application area has a history of agricultural and equestrian use, and the 
land may be contaminated. Therefore, a Preliminary Risk Assessment was 
submitted in support of the application. 
 

10.90. Following a review of the assessment, no objections have been raised to the 
scheme by Environmental Protection, subject to conditions requiring the 
submission of an updated risk assessment, further investigation, and 
remediation, if required. Additional conditions are also suggested to ensure that 
contaminated land verification of the site is submitted prior to the first 
occupation of the dwelling. 

 
 Public Rights of Way (PROW):  
 
10.91. The proposed development is adjacent to Public Footpath ‘Ollerton No.22’. It is 

considered unlikely that the proposal would directly affect the Public Right of 
Way. An Informative is suggested to be imposed to the planning consent, to 
ensure that developers are aware of their obligations in relation to Public 
Footpaths. 

 
 Drainage:  
 

Page 30



 

 

10.92. A Flood Risk Assessment and surface water drainage strategy have been 
submitted in support of the application. These reports have stated that the 
application site is safe from fluvial flooding up to and including a 1000yr event, 
and there is minimal surface water flooding in the local area. Buildings will 
remain safe, and access/egress routes are free from flooding. Drainage 
proposals will give a reduction in surface water discharge from the pre-
development brownfield flows, which should reduce flood risk downstream.  
 

10.93. Although a detailed drainage plan is not required for an outline planning 
permission, further information on how surface water will be managed, (so as 
to not cause any flood risk to the proposed development and cause any 
increase in flood risk off-site), has been requested and supplied.  
 

10.94. Following these discussions, both United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood 
Authority are satisfied that the application can proceed subject to conditions to 
secure the detailed design once the layout is fixed. The application is 
acceptable in this regard. 

 
11. HEADS OF TERMS: 

 
11.1. If the application is approved a Section 106 Agreement will be required to 

secure the following: 
 
• Affordable Housing comprising 30% (4 units as proposed), as intermediate 

tenure; 
• An Education Contribution (Based on a formula of £19,425.00 per child for 

Primary, and £26,717.00 per child for Secondary); 
• Public Open Space including play space provision comprising of a LAP;  
• A Recreation and Outdoor Sport commuted sum for offsite provision; and 
• Management Plan for the on-site public open space. 

 
 CIL Regulations 
 

11.2. In order to comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 
2010 it is necessary for planning applications with legal agreements to consider 
the issue of whether the requirements within the S106 satisfy the following: 
 

 (a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 (b) directly related to the development; and 
 (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
11.3. The development would result in increased demand for primary secondary 

school places within the catchment area which currently have a shortfall of 
school places. In order to increase the capacity of the schools which would 
support the proposed development, a contribution towards primary and 
secondary school education is required based upon the number of units applied 
for. This is considered to be necessary and fair and reasonable in relation to the 
development. 
 

Page 31



 

 

11.4. As explained within the main report, ROS and children’s play space is a 
requirement of Planning Policy. It is directly related to the development and is 
fair and reasonable. On this basis, the S106 recommendation is compliant with 
the CIL Regulations 2010. 

 
12. PLANNING BALANCE: 
 
12.1. A Planning Authority must exercise its judgement and consider many 

(sometimes) conflicting issues to decide whether planning permission should 
be granted. This will mean examining the Development Plan and taking material 
considerations which apply to the proposal into account. These things must be 
properly considered otherwise the decision of whether to grant permission may 
be unlawful. 
 

12.2. Outline planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing 
equestrian buildings, construction of dwellings and alterations to access on land 
at New Barn Farm. 
 

12.3. This outline application provides details of the means of access and scale. 
Other matters including appearance, layout and landscaping are reserved for 
later approval. Notwithstanding this, indicative details are provided for a site 
layout comprising 13 dwellings.  
 

12.4. The site is located within the Green Belt and has been historically used for 
equestrian purposes and is therefore previously developed land. The 
redevelopment of the site is acceptable provided there is no greater impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development.  
 

12.5. The benefits of the scheme also include investment in the local economy and 
the creation of jobs during the construction phase, increased support for local 
shops and businesses by the future occupants of the development and the 
provision of inexpensive market houses in a sustainable location. The scheme 
would generate Council Tax income, which could provide a source of revenue 
funding for the Local Authority in delivering services as well as investing in the 
locality. 

 
13. CONCLUSIONS: 

 
13.1. For the reasons set out above, and having taken account of all matters raised, 

it is recommended that this application is approved, subject to conditions and a 
S106 legal agreement to mitigate impacts on matters relating to affordable 
housing, education, open space and sport and recreation. Subject to this, the 
scheme is found to be acceptable. 

 
  

Page 32



 

 

14. RECOMMENDATION:  
 

14.1. APPROVE subject to a s106 legal agreement to secure the following: 
 

 
and the following conditions / informatives: 

 
Outline: 

1. Outline – commencement of development. 
2. Outline – approval of details (access) 
3. Outline – time limit for reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout, and 

scale) 
4. Accordance with Approved Plans (access to be built in accordance with the 

plans in the highways statement)  
5. Removal of Permitted Development rights (Class A, B and E) 
6. Notwithstanding Submission – Public Open Space scheme 
7. Dwellings no higher than two-storey with a max ridge of 7.8 metres. 

 
Reserved Matters:  

8. Notwithstanding Submission – Housing Mix Assessment 
9. Notwithstanding Submission – Affordable Housing scheme 
10. Details of Cycle and Bin Storage  

S106 Amount Trigger 

Affordable Housing 30% (4 units 
as proposed) 
as 
intermediate 
tenure 
 

Not more than of 50% of open market 
dwellings shall be occupied until all 
affordable units within have completed 
and made ready for occupation 

Education 
(primary/secondary) 

Formula of 
£19,425.00 
per child for 
Primary, and 
£26,717.00 
per child for 
Secondary 

Prior to first occupation of the 
development 

POS – Arrangements for 
transfer to management 
company of all areas of 
planting /landscaping, 
POS/incidental open space, 
Children’s play space, 
allotments/orchards, and 
ecological areas 

 Prior to first occupation of the 
development 

Contribution to outdoor 

sports facilities   
 

TBC Prior to first occupation of the 
development 

Page 33



 

 

11. Details of Boundary Treatments 
12. Submission of Samples of Materials 
13. Provision for Parking  

 
Sustainability:   

14. Residents Sustainable Travel Information Pack 
15. Electric Vehicle Infrastructure  
16. Low Emission Boilers  

 
Living Conditions:  

17. Submission of a Construction Management Plan (prior to commencement) 
18. Implementation of Noise Survey  

 
Highways: 

19. Access to be constructed in accordance with approved plan (prior to first 
occupation) 

20. A 2m footway be provided along the site frontage to the A537 (prior to first 
occupation)  
 
Drainage:  

21. Flood Risk Assessment and detailed Drainage Strategy (prior to 
commencement) 

22. Sustainable Surface Water Drainage, Management and Maintenance (prior to 
commencement) 

23. Surface Water Flooding Drainage Strategy (prior to commencement) 
24. CCTV Survey (remediation, repair, and maintenance strategy) (prior to 

commencement) 
 
Ecology:  

25. Biodiversity Net Gain (prior to commencement) 
26. Protection of Nesting and Breeding Birds (compliance condition) 
27. Ecologically Sensitive Lighting Scheme (prior to first occupation) 
28. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (prior to first occupation) 

 
Contamination:  

29. Contaminated Land Assessment, Investigation and Remediation (prior to 
commencement) 

30. Verification of Contaminated Land (prior to first occupation) 
31. Unexpected Contamination (compliance condition) 
32. Importation of Soil (compliance condition) 

 
Trees:  

33. Tree Protection (prior to commencement) 
34. Retention of retained trees (compliance condition) 
35. In accordance with Arboricultural Impact Assessment/Method Statement 

(compliance condition) 
 

14.2. In order to give proper effect to the Committee`s intent and without changing the 
substance of its decision, authority is delegated to the Head of Planning in 

Page 34



 

 

consultation with the Chair (or in their absence the Vice Chair) to correct any 
technical slip or omission in the resolution, before issue of the decision notice. 

 
14.3. Should this application be the subject of an appeal, authority be delegated to the 

Planning and Place Shaping Manager in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Strategic Planning Board to enter into a planning agreement in accordance with 
the S106 Town and Country Planning Act to secure the Heads of Terms for a 
S106 Agreement. 

  

Page 35



 

 

 

P
age 36



 
 

 

24/2602M 

New Barn Farm, Chelford Road, 
Ollerton, Knutsford,  

WA16 8SZ 

P
age 37



New Barn Farm, Chelford, Ollerton, WA16 8SX

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024. OS AC0000813445

Plotted Scale - 1:1250. Paper Size - A3

P
age 38



General Note: Do not scale off this drawing
All dimensions, levels and position of services to be
confirmed on site prior to commencement of works

Drawing supplied by Site Surveying Services of Clitheroe BB7 1QX

M1

M2

M5

M1A

M3A

M4A

block wall.(ht.2)

block wall.

(ht.3)

block wall.
(ht.3)

bl
oc

k w
all

.

wood

wood
(ht1)

wood
(ht1.3)

wood
(ht1.1)

wood
(ht1.2)

wood
(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.6)

wood
(ht1.6)

wood
(ht1.8)

wood
(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.1)

w
oo

d
(h

t1
.1

)

wo
od

(h
t1

.3
)

wood
(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.3)

wood
(ht2)

wo
od

(h
t.8

)

ta
rm

ac

tarmac

tarmac

rough ground
tarmac

tarmac

grass

grass

grass

grass

grass

grass

grass

grass

gu
=6

6.
31

gu=67.13

he
dg

e

hedge
(ht.5)

66.30

66
.1

8

66.14 rough ground
grass

rough ground
grass

rough ground

rough ground

top conc=66.25

NO COVER

HORSEWALKER

SAND

EL
EC

 F
EN

CE

ELEC FENCE
1.1H

FENCE POST
LINE

POTENTIAL
SEPTIC TANK

MANURE

cl=66.34

cl=
66

.1
8

eav=69.93

ffl=66.63

ffl=66.35

66.53

66.46

66.34

eav=68.94

ridge=71.59

eav=69.18

gravel

gravel

gravel

conc.

conc.

conc.

conc.

slot drain

slot drain

tl=66.50

eav=68.91

ea
v=

69
.9

9

ea
v=

69
.3

2

svp

svp

ds

ds

ds

ds

ds

ramp =65.98

ramp =66.44

65.54

post

post

post

post

post

eav=69.28

ridge=70.74

eav=70.59

eav=69.47

eav=69.59

ridge=70.92

ridge=70.71

decking

decking

slab path

slab path

slab path

cl\b.
(ht2)i

65.66

ridge=68.28
eav=67.56

eav=68.20

ridge=68.96

eav=68.18

eav=70.60

eav=70.61

65.65

mh - W
66.91

66
.8

1

BT
dk.t

dk.t

66.92

67.34

el. post

el. post

si

top hedge=70.84

top hedge=70.52

top hedge=66.80

rough ground
tarmac

pipe

bt

bt

ridge=71.63

ea
v=

69
.3

0

ea
v=

69
.3

5
ea

v=
70

.5
3

cl=66.14

mh - W

66
.2

5

66
.3

4

66
.3

9

66
.4

6

66
.3

2

66.40

66
.4

6

c/l.
(ht1.8)

c/l.
(ht1.2)

c/l.
(ht.8)

c/l.
(ht.7)

flower bed
av d=.2
3 stems

66
.4

1

eav=68.91

.14Ø

.1Ø

il=64.43

il=64.34

63
.9

1

b/w
(ht1.1)

wal=64.82

wal=65.34

66.28

66.35 66
.3

4

66
.3

0

66
.2

8
66

.2
7

66
.5

5

66
.5

7

66.11

gu=66.30

65.88

65.55

65
.8

5

si

66
.2

5

66
.6

6

66
.5

1

66.45

cl=66.32

66.60

66.50

66.50

rubble/ waste

66.42

66
.35

66.30

tank

gu
 &

ds
 =

66
.2

8

gu &ds =66.28

gu
 &

ds
 =

66
.1

9

gu
 &

ds
 =

66
.1

5

d=.7

rid
ge

=7
1.

50

ridge=71.49

rid
ge

=7
1.

48

rid
ge

=7
1.

49

ridge=73.36

ridge=73.40

15 20 40 500 5 101 2 3 4 30

A.  1295.3sqm
B.    444.6sqm
C.    214.8sqm

E.      44.6sqm

BUILDING AREAS

TOTAL. 2462.2sqm

F.      43.8sqm

D.    419.1sqm

A

B

C

D

E

F

Pond

Pond

d=.3

Pond lines from OS as inaccesible.

376200N

OB4

OB5
66.5

66
.5

gu si =66.56

gu=66.52

gu=66.45

66.51

66.49

66.68

66.62

66.60

66.61

66.55

66
.8

1

d=.5

66.54

66.54

66.48

66.43
66.39

66.31

66.23

66.22

66.27

66.29

66.35

66.39

66.39

66.39

66.39

66.42

66.47

dk.t

dk.t

dk.t

66.62

66.64

66.61

66.56
66.54

66.46

66.40

66.39

66.43

66.48

66.52

66.53

66.45

66.44

66.53

66.58

66.63

66.65 66.66
66.61

bt

bt

bt

66.56

66.53

66.52

66.49

66.48

66.46

66.48

66.54

66.53

66.53

66.56

66.60

66.64

66.67

sv - w

guy

dk.t

dk.t

66.62

66.61

66.59

66.58

66.58

66.50

66.54

66.54

66.62

66.67

66.70

66.73

66.79

66.62

66.67

66.61

66.61

66.58

66.42

66.32

66.37

66.27

66.40

66.45

66.53

66.51

66.84

66.81

66.65 66.58

66.63

66.68

66.60

66.55

66.54

66.48

66.42

66.57

66.61

66.52

66.49

66.54

66.50

66.48

66.53

66.47

66.52

66.66

66.67

66.60

66.58

LAY-BY

grass

grass

tarmac

65.5565.39

66.18
65.85

66.28

65.88 66.11 66.28

66.5066.63

66.28

66.98 C
H

EL
FO

R
D

 R
O

AD

65.85

37
91

00
E

37
90

80
E

M1

M1A

OB3

OB2

67
.0

wood(ht1.3)

67.33

67.73rough ground
tarmac

67.79

67.65

67.68

67.67

67.70

67.74

67.74

67.70

67.65

67.6767.67

67
.6

4

67.58

67.54

67.41

67.31

67.27
67.2667.22

67.22

67.31

67.27

67.26

67.33

67
.3

6

gu=67.15

67.27

67.62

67.66

67.31

67.15

67.06

67.01

67.33

67.18

67.09

67.04

67.00

66.96

66.92

66.88

66.80

66.68

66.61

66.55

66
.8

1

d=.5

d=.7

d=1.2

mh - BTcl=67.08
mh - BT

mh - BT

mh - BT

mh - BT

cl=67.18

cl=67.38

cl=67.80

cl=67.58

bt

67.64

67.66

67.69

67.68

67.71

67.71

67.72

67.71

67.69

66.95

dk.t

dk.t

67.70

67.74

67.76

67.67

67.71

67.77

67.79

67.79

67.76

66.98

67
.5

6
67

.6
9

67
.5

4

67.68

67.78

67.71

67.62

67.55

67.55

67.29

66.99

67.26

67.41

67.51

67.41

67.43
67.50 67

.3
2

67.40

67.40

67.48

67.57

67.69

66.53

66.51

66.84

66.81
66.83

66.91

67.01

67.14

67.15

67.18

67.20
67.24

67.88

67.80

67.81

67.79
67.71 67.75

67.80

67
.6

2

67.85

67.98

67.81

67.75

67.81

67.69

67.71

67.68

67.67

67.67

67.66

67.64

67.66

67.64

67.65

67.77

67.54

67.54

67.55

67.63

67.59

67.53

67.80

67.57

67.54

67.72

67.74
67.76

67.73

67.75

67.73

grass

grass

grass

grass

tarmac

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATIONbuilding A building B building C

building A

building B building Abuilding D

building F building E

SOUTH ELEVATIONNORTH ELEVATION SOUTH ELEVATIONNORTH ELEVATION

building Fbuilding E

65.65

65.29
65.65

building F building E

SOUTH ELEVATION (including buildings C and D
building A

66.63

building Dbuilding C
66.28

65.76

65.85
66.28

65.55
66.11

SOUTH ELEVATION (at building B)
building A building B

LEE ARCHITECTS LTD

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING

DRAWING NUMBER

DATE           SCALE
12-07-23              1:200@A0

L694 / 02

Existing Site Plan

Chelford Road
Ollerton
Cheshire  WA16 8TA

Leepark House
449 Chester Road
Manchester   M16 9HA
T  0161 873 7788
M  07710 539748
E   info@leearchitects.co.uk
copyright reserved

New Barn Farm

and Developments Ltd
Cheshire Maintenance

P
age 39



LEE ARCHITECTS LTD

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING

DRAWING NUMBER

DATE           SCALE
24–10-24              1:200@A0

L694 / 19

Scheme G Block Plan

Chelford Road
Ollerton
Cheshire  WA16 8TA

Leepark House
449 Chester Road
Manchester   M16 9HA
T  0161 873 7788
M  07710 539748
E   info@leearchitects.co.uk
copyright reserved

New Barn Farm

General Note: Do not scale off this drawing
All dimensions, levels and position of services to be
confirmed on site prior to commencement of works

and Developments Ltd
Cheshire Maintenance

wood
(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.3)

wood(ht1.3)

rough ground
tarmac

grass

grass

gu=67.13

eav=69.47

eav=69.59

ridge=70.92

ridge=70.71

eav=68.38

mh - W
66.91

BT
dk.t

dk.t

66.92

67.34

el. post

el. post

top hedge=70.84

rough ground
tarmac

mh - W

.14Ø

.1Ø

il=64.43

il=64.34

63
.9

1

b/w
(ht1.1)

wal=65.34

EXISTING TOTAL FOOTPRINT OF BUILDINGS, 2462.2sqm

PROPOSED TOTAL FOOTPRINT OF HOUSES, 1,342sqm

‘wild’ amenity area

canopy cut back

tree managed area

potential acoustic fence

5.5m wide road

Drawing supplied by Site Surveying Services of Clitheroe BB7 1QX

6m radius

Pond

Pond

Pond lines from OS as inaccesible.

376200N

OB4

OB5

66
.5

gu si =66.56

gu=66.52

gu=66.45

66.51

66.49

66.68

66.62

66.60

66.61

66.55

66
.8

1

d=.5

66.54

66.54

66.48

66.43
66.39

66.31

66.23

66.22

66.27

66.29

dk.t 66.62

66.64

66.61

66.56
66.54

66.46

66.40

66.39

66.43

66.48

66.65 66.66
66.61

bt

bt

66.56

66.53

66.52

66.49

66.48

66.46

66.48

66.54

66.53

66.53

66.56

sv - w

guy

dk.t

dk.t

66.62

66.61

66.59

66.58

66.58

66.50

66.54

66.54

66.62

66.67

66.42

66.32

66.37

66.27

66.40

66.45

66.53

66.51

66.84

66.81

66.60

66.55

66.54

66.48

66.42

66.57

66.61

66.52

66.49

66.54

66.50

66.48

66.53

66.47

66.52

66.66

66.67

LAY-BY

grass

tarmac

potential acoustic fence

37
91

00
E

37
90

80
E

M1

M1A

OB3

OB2

67
.0

wood(ht1.3)

67.33

67.73rough ground
tarmac

67.79

67.68

67.67

67.70

67.74

67.74

67.70

67.65

67.67
67.67

67
.6

4

67.58

67.54

67.41

67.31

67.27
67.2667.22

67.22

67.31

67.27

67.26

67.33

67
.3

6

gu=67.15

67.27

67.62

67.66

67.31

67.15

67.06

67.01

67.33

67.18

67.09

67.04

67.00

66.96

66.92

66.88

66.80

66.68

66.61

66.55

66
.8

1

d=.5

d=.7

d=1.2

mh - BTcl=67.08
mh - BT

mh - BT

mh - BT

mh - BT

cl=67.18

cl=67.38

cl=67.80

cl=67.58

bt

67.62

67.64

67.66

67.69

67.68

67.71

67.71

67.72

67.71

67.69

66.95

dk.t

dk.t

67.68

67.70

67.74

67.76

67.67

67.71

67.77

67.79

67.79

67.76

66.98

67
.5

6
67

.6
9

67
.5

4

67.68

67.78

67.71

67.62

67.55

67.55

67.29

66.99

67.26

67.41

67.51

67.41

67.43
67.50 67

.3
2

67.40

67.40

67.48

67.57

67.69

66.53

66.51

66.84

66.81
66.83

66.91

67.01

67.14

67.15

67.18

67.20
67.24

67.88

67.80

67.81

67.79
67.71 67.75

67.80

67
.6

2

67.85

67.98

67.81

67.75

67.81

67.69

67.61

67.60

67.66

67.64

67.66

67.64

67.65

67.77

67.54

67.54

67.55

67.63

67.59

67.53

67.80

67.57

67.54

67.72

67.74
67.76

67.73

67.75

67.73

grass

grass

grass

grass

tarmac

woodland walk
amenity area

10
m

2m pavement

verge

communal area

access to
fields

drive

drive

drive

drive

drive

drive

drive

drive

drive

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

garden

tarmac

‘grasscrete’

drive

over 520sqm

Total of open space 520sqm (not accounting
Total number of houses 13 X 40sqm of open space per dwelling = 520sqm

Plot 1

Plot 2

Plot 3

Plot 4

Plot 5

Plot 6

Plot 7

Plot 8

Plot 9

Plot 10

Plot 11

Plot 12

Plot 13

for amenity space provided by the woods and areas around the pond)

garden

tarmac

and access to field, orange cross lines)

existing buildings removed

65
.8

5

15 20 40 500 metres 5 10 30

EXISTING TOTAL VOLUME OF BUILDINGS, 12,385cu.m

PROPOSED TOTAL VOLUME OF HOUSES, 7,460cu.m

A
M1

canopy cut back

tree managed area

communal area

communal area
communal area

garden

garden

drive

2m pavement

tarmac

drive

Yellow feint lines from housing layout of Scheme F drawing no. L694 / 17rC

drive

pavings

‘wild’ amenity area

5.5m wide road

2m pavement

gated access

gated access

yellow outlne of scheme F

lawn

lawn

lawn

lawn
lawn

lawn

lawn

lawn
lawn

lawn

P
age 40



P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application No: 24/4944/FUL 

Application Type: Full Planning 

Location: Heyes Lane Tennis Club, The Circuit, Alderley Edge, Cheshire East, 

SK9 7LT 

Proposal: Installation of New Court Lighting, for all 3 courts.  

Applicant: Mr Viren Gandhi, C/O Heyes Lane Tennis Club 

  

 

 
Summary 
 
The application site comprises of the existing Heyes Lane Tennis Club, which is designated 
as an area of Protected Open Space. It is located within the North Cheshire Green Belt and 
adjoins the settlement boundary for Wilmslow to the south. 
 
The proposed floodlights will not unduly harm the character or visual impact of the Green 
Belt and that the benefits are sufficient to outweigh any harm. The proposed development 
would not comprise inappropriate development and it would comply with relevant Green Belt 
policy. 
 
It is considered that the proposals for new floodlighting to the existing tennis courts complies 
with the aims of enhancing and protecting an existing outdoor sports venue, which already 
benefits from associated infrastructure, within an existing area of Protected Open Space. 
 
Subject to the use of planning conditions, it is considered there are no significant adverse 
impacts in regard to design, amenity, highways, accessibility, residential amenity, or flood 
risk. The scheme is found to accord with the relevant policies of the Development Plan. 
 
Summary Recommendation 
 
APPROVE subject to conditions. 
 

 

1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1. This application has been ‘called-in’ to committee at the request of Cllr Mark Goldsmith for the 

following reasons:  
 
“This planning application proposes to install floodlighting to all three outdoor courts at Heyes 
Lane Tennis Club. The proposals are highly controversial locally and the application would 
benefit from a public debate at Northern Planning Committee to enable compliance or 
otherwise with the following relevant planning policies to be properly considered: 
 

• CELPS Policy PG3 (Green Belt) - impact upon the green belt as well as visual intrusion 
of the proposed lighting (and columns) upon the character of the green belt; 

• CELPS Policy SE12 (Light Pollution) - impact on residential amenity of the occupants 
of "The Circuit", particularly relating to the visual intrusiveness of artificial light; 

Page 43 Agenda Item 6



• SADPD Policy RUR6 (outdoor sport outside of settlement boundaries) - impact on the 
amenity and character of the surrounding area, including the local landscape, 
particularly when viewed from the green belt; 

• SADPD Policy ENV14 (Light Pollution) - light spillage and glare should be the minimum 
required for operational purposes, with adequate screening to avoid a negative impact 
on residential amenity; 

• Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan Policy AE9 (Landscape Character) - development 
proposals on the edge of or outside the settlement boundary should include appropriate 
boundary treatment to provide an acceptable transition to the green belt; 

 
Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan Policy AE17 (Car Parking) - development proposals 
should ensure adequate on-site parking provision, as well as an appropriate sustainable travel 
plan.” 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1. The application site relates to an existing Tennis Club located within the Green Belt in 

Wilmslow, adjacent to an area of residential properties to the south and open fields to the 
north. 
 

2.2. The club is surrounded on three sides by mature trees with open views to the north. 
 

2.3. The site comprises three existing courts. 
 

2.4. The site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3. 
 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1. The application seeks full planning permission for the installation of 12no. 7m high flood light 

columns. 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1.  97/1549P - Replacement Pavilion - Approved 18 September 1997 

 
5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

 
5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 

March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications and 
the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into 
account for the purposes of decision making. 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 

 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 

planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) was 
adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was adopted 
in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this application are set 
out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where applicable to the application 
site. 

 

Page 44



6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East Site 
Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 

 
1.SADPD Policy PG 9: Settlement boundaries 
2.SADPD Policy GEN 1: Design principles 
3.SADPD Policy ENV 14: Light pollution 
4.SADPD Policy ENV 3: Landscape character 
5.SADPD Policy ENV 5: Landscaping 
6.SADPD Policy HOU 12: Amenity 
7.SADPD Policy REC 1: Open space protection 
8.SADPD Policy REC 5: Community facilities 
9. SADPD Policy RUR 6: Outdoor Sport Outside of Settlement Boundaries 
10.CELPS Policy MP 1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
11.CELPS Policy SD 1: Sustainable development in Cheshire East 
12.CELPS Policy SD 2: Sustainable development principles 
13.CELPS Policy SC 1: Leisure and recreation 
14.CELPS Policy SC 2: Indoor and outdoor sports facilities 
15.CELPS Policy SC 3: Health and well-being 
16.CELPS Policy SE 1: Design 
17.CELPS Policy SE 3: Biodiversity and geodiversity 
18.CELPS Policy SE 4: The landscape 
19.CELPS Policy SE 9: Energy efficient development 
20. CELPS Policy SE 12: Light Pollution 
21.CELPS Policy CO 1: Sustainable travel and transport 
22. CELPS Policy PG3: Green Belt 

 
6.3. Neighbourhood Plan 

 
Policies of the Neighbourhood Plan relevant to the consideration of this application are: 
 
Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan: 
 
AE9: Landscape Character and Access 
AE10: Local Green Spaces 
AE14: Sustainable Transport Routes 
AE17: Car Parking 
AE19: Protecting and Enhancing Local Community and Sports and Recreation Facilities 

 
7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 

 
7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development Plan 

but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application: 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
National Planning Practice Framework (NPPG) 
Cheshire East Design Guide. 

 
8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 

 
Environmental Protection: No objections subject to a condition relating to the proposed light 
spillage information submitted. 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS 

 

Page 45



9.1. Approximately 91 no. letters of representation have been received with 14 no. in support and 
77 no. objecting to the proposal. The comments are summarised below: 
 
Objections 

• The light pollution from the floodlights would injure the amenity of the surrounding 
residents. 

• Increased noise at later hours. 
• The floodlights would impact on the adjacent Green Belt. 
• The area already suffers from parking issues on the surrounding roads, and this 

would be worsened by the proposal. 
• Impact on local wildlife. 

 
Support 

• The proposal is essential for the club to keep up facilities and remain competitive with 
other clubs. 

• Great news for the community. 
• It is clear that the club have gone to great pains to minimise the impact on the 

neighbours. 
 

10. OFFICER APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of the development  
 

10.1. The application site is located within an area of Protected Open Space. SADPD Policy REC5 
encourages proposals to retain, enhance and maintain community facilities. Policy SC2 of 
the CELPS states the council will protect existing indoor and outdoor sports facilities.  
 

10.2. The proposed development would relate to the main function of the space and as such would 
support these aims and accords with policies REC5 and SC 2. 

 
10.3. The site lies within the North Cheshire Green Belt. The NPPF states that within the Green 

Belt the carrying out of engineering operations are not inappropriate development providing 
they maintain openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green 
Belt. 

 
10.4. The NPPF outlines exceptions to Green Belt policy with the second being the ‘provision of 

appropriate facilities for outdoor sport as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt 
and does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it’. Therefore, the proposed 
development is considered to not conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green 
Belt as it relates to a facility for outdoor sport. 
 

10.5. The proposed floodlights would comprise 12 no. columns, that would measure 7 metres in 
height and would be of a slim-line design. The floodlights are of an unfussy design and would 
not be highly visible from public vantage points. For these reasons they would not be 
significantly visible or have a significant impact on openness. In addition, the floodlights 
would provide improved facilities during the winter months providing benefits to the local 
community. 
 

10.6. Bearing these factors in mind, it is considered that the proposed floodlights will not unduly 
harm the character or visual impact of the Green Belt and that the light’s benefits are 
sufficient to outweigh any harm. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposed development 
would not comprise inappropriate development and it would comply with relevant Green Belt 
policy, namely Policy PG3. 

 

Page 46



10.7. The principle of development is therefore considered acceptable, as the development would 
support the existing use of the site as a tennis club and ‘be integrated with existing facilities’ 
as per SADPD Policy RUR 6. 

 
Design 

 
10.8. CELPS Policy SE1 states that “development proposals should ensure a retained sense of 

place and management of design quality”. CELPS Policy SD2 further details the design 
matters that should be considered, including height, scale, form and grouping of development, 
choice of materials, external design features, massing of development and impact upon the 
street scene. 

 
10.9. The proposed lighting columns would be of a slim-line design and the lights would be angled 

so as to prevent light spillage onto the surrounding area. The site has a number of trees and 
hedges to three of the boundaries, although it is visible from the public footpaths to the north 
of the site. However, from this viewpoint the floodlights would be seen against the backdrop 
of trees and houses and so would not be prominent.  

 
10.10. The flood lights would relate well to the use of the site. It is not considered that the 

development would have a significant impact on the character or appearance of the site or 
surrounding area due to the nature of the proposal and the screening provided by the existing 
vegetation. 

 
10.11. The proposed development would not result in a detrimental impact upon the 

character of the surrounding area in accordance with policies SE1 and SD2 of the Cheshire 
East Local Plan and policy GEN 1 of the Site Allocations and Development Policies Document. 
 

Residential Amenity 
 

10.12. Policy HOU12 of the SADPD states that development should not cause unacceptable 
harm to the amenities of adjoining or nearby occupiers of residential properties. Policies 
ENV14 and SE12 seek to protect neighbouring amenity with specific reference to lighting 
installations. 
 

10.13. Residential properties are located approximately 20 metres from the nearest 
proposed floodlight. Plans and specification submitted with the application show minimal light 
overspill to these properties and there is good screening between the site and the dwellings. 

 
10.14. It is proposed to limit the use of the floodlighting to the latest time of 22.00. Regarding 

hours of use, it is important to note that the tennis courts have been operating since well before 
the imposition of any planning legislation. This means that the use of the tennis courts is 
currently unrestricted in terms of the hours that sporting activities can take place. Accordingly, 
tennis matches can be played at any time and are not the subject of planning control. The 
concerns expressed by neighbours with respect to the noise generated during tennis matches 
would not sustain a refusal of planning permission, given that there is no control over the hours 
that matches can be played. The installation of the floodlights would not change this position. 
If matches did proceed past 22.00 in the summer season, they would continue to be played 
without flood lighting, and the LPA would not be able to prevent this owing to the absence of 
any restriction on hours of use. 

 
10.15. It is not considered that the installation of floodlights would significantly intensify the 

use of the site when considering they would only be required in the non-summer months when 
it would be anticipated that the level of tennis participation would be reduced. The submitted 
information claims that light spillage from the proposal shall not give rise to illumination spillage 
onto residential properties.  

Page 47



 
10.16. No objections have been raised by the Council’s Environmental Protection Unit subject to 

an hours of operation condition. Accordingly, the proposal is acceptable in term of its 
impacts on neighbouring residential amenity. 

 
Impact on Highway Safety 
 

10.17. The proposals would not have any significant implications on highway safety or result 
in a significant intensification of use over the existing as the number of courts are not 
increasing. 
 

Nature Conservation 
 

10.18. CELPS Policy SE3 deals with biodiversity and geodiversity. It seeks to protect areas of 
high biodiversity and geodiversity. It also requires all development to aim to positively 
contribute to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity. The 
following ecological matters are relevant to the current proposal. 
 
Badger and hedgehog 
 

10.19. No conclusive evidence of badger activity or evidence of hedgehogs was recorded as 
part of the submitted Ecological Appraisal. It is therefore advised by the Council’s Nature 
Conservation Officer that these species are not reasonably likely to be affected by the 
proposed development. 
 
Water Vole  

 
10.20. This protected species may potentially occur on the watercourse to the south of the 

application site. The submitted Ecological Assessment advises that 1 lighting pole is 
located within 10 metres of the brook. It is advised by the Council’s Nature Conservation 
Officer that considering the scale of works proposed and the distance between the 
proposed lighting pole and the brook the risk to this species being directly affected by the 
installation of the lighting poles is low. This species could however be adversely affected 
by light pollution on the brook. 
 
Lighting 

 
10.21. The revised proposed lighting scheme will result in only localised encroachment onto 

existing trees and the Whitehall Brook to the south of the existing tennis courts. It is advised 
by the Council’s Nature Conservation Officer that the proposed lighting is unlikely to have 
a significant impact upon roosting bats. If planning consent is granted a condition will be 
included to ensure that the proposed lighting is implemented in accordance with the latest 
submissions. 
 
Flood Risk 
 

10.22. The site lies within Flood Zone 2 and 3. However, the floodlights would be provided for 
an existing use on site and would not have any impact on flood risk. 

 
11. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 

 
11.1. It is considered that the proposals for new floodlighting to the existing tennis courts are in 

compliance with the aims of enhancing and protecting an existing outdoor sports venue with 
established on site associated infrastructure, within an existing open space. 
 

Page 48



11.2.  The proposals would not represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
 

11.3. Subject to the use of planning conditions it is considered there are no significant adverse 
impacts in regard to design, amenity, highways, accessibility, flood risk or residential amenity. 

 
12. RECOMMENDATION 

 
Approve subject to following conditions.  
 

1.Commencement of development 
2.Development in accord with approved plans 
3.Limitation of hours of lighting to no later than 22.00 hours (incl Sundays and Bank 
holidays) 
4. Accordance with submitted light spillage information 
5. Accordance with submitted Ecological Assessment. 
 
 

 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

Page 49



 

P
age 50



 
 

 

24/4944/FUL 

Heyes Lane Tennis Club, The 
Circuit, Alderley Edge,  

SK9 7LT 

P
age 51



Heyes Lane Tennis Club_location plan

Plan Produced for: Viren Gandhi, Chairperson
Date Produced: 15 Jan 2025

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023 OS 100042766

Plan Reference Number:TQRQM25015112902563

Scale: 1:1250 @ A4

P
age 52



HeyesLane Tennis Proposed block plan - approx position of 12 lighting poles

Plan Produced for: Viren Gandhi, Chairperson
Date Produced: 15 Jan 2025

Plan Reference Number: TQRQM25015114036510

Scale: 1:500 @ A4

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023 OS 100042766

P
age 53



Designed to meet LTA recommended
Standards
PPA = 400-500lux (maintained) 0.70,in/ave
Uniformity.
TPA = 300-400lux (maintained) 0.60,in/ave
Uniformity.

All floodlights mounted at 7 metres

Design completed using a total of
10 No ClearFlood Large BVP657 T25
1xLED850-4S/730 FP A55 - LO
04 No OptiVision 2 module BVP518 IN T45
1xLED1060-4S/730/730 E3/D4I A55-NMB
LTM

All fittings are fitted with internal louvres to
reduce obtrusive light.

Courts 1&2 and Courts 2&3 share the
BVP518 fittings

MF 0.95 - Performance
MF 1.0 Overspill (Worst case when new)

Ev grids added to 6 No Houses South of
Courts - All results < 1 lux
Observers placed outside each house to
measure Luminous Intensity
Ev Hedgerows East & S/W added along
tree lines1.5m up to 6m height
Max Ev value achieved is 1.8 lux

BVP657 BVP518 Internal
Louvre for
BVP518

Project Name

Drawing Name

7m BVP518/BVP657 Combo
Performance - LTA - R1

PROPOSAL
(NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION)

Notes:

1) Unless agreed otherwise, the lighting proposal produced by the Lighting Application Specialist (LiAS) team of Signify UK&I is not intended for
construction purposes, as it does not take into account the elimination of health and safety risks at this stage. For further details please refer
to sheet number DWG 00

2) Do not scale for this drawing

Scale & Sheet Size

1:100 @ A1
Sheet No

PR-DWG 01

Project Number

Heyes Lane Tennis Club,
Alderley Edge

Rev DSR no. Comment Date
0 D-577194 BVP518 / BVP651 Combo 7m Perform & Spill Results - LTA 04/07/24

KAMLiAS
APSJ 04010145391 D-593074 BVP518 / BVP657 Combo 7m Perform & Spill Results - LTA All LO Louvre 11/09/24 APSJ

P
age 54

AutoCAD SHX Text
391

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
392

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
338

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
374

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
308

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
292

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
307

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
292

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
308

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
374

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
338

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
392

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
391

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
347

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
378

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
397

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
407

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
397

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
378

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
347

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
363

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
365

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
359

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
432

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
438

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
432

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
359

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
365

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
363

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
461

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
446

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
401

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
463

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
536

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
463

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
401

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
446

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
461

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
538

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
644

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
599

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
485

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
510

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
584

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
510

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
485

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
599

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
644

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
538

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
617

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
580

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
474

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
352

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
509

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
583

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
509

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
352

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
474

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
580

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
617

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
431

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
537

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
531

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
439

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
534

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
439

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
531

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
537

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
431

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
395

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
510

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
512

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
355

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
422

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
434

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
422

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
355

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
512

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
510

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
395

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
351

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
489

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
485

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
319

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
402

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
319

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
485

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
489

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
351

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
468

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
434

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
473

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
335

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
312

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
347

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
309

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
332

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
470

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
431

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
464

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
427

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
414

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
467

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
459

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
480

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
342

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
335

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
382

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
331

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
338

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
477

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
463

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
386

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
431

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
442

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
435

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
341

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
360

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
374

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
356

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
335

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
434

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
438

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
427

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
386

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
393

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
415

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
418

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
373

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
411

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
383

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
370

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
353

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
428

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
472

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
463

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
423

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
463

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
467

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
422

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
350

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
369

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
413

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
428

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
413

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
386

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
437

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
435

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
340

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
362

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
377

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
362

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
340

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
435

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
437

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
386

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
464

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
458

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
476

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
339

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
336

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
388

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
336

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
339

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
476

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
458

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
464

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
428

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
469

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
439

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
478

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
338

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
313

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
353

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
313

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
338

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
478

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
439

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
469

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
428

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
362

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
494

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
493

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
388

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
332

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
400

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
425

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
400

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
332

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
388

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
493

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
494

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
362

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
399

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
511

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
513

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
415

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
359

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
426

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
437

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
426

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
359

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
415

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
513

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
511

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
399

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
438

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
546

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
536

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
443

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
360

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
495

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
611

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
495

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
360

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
443

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
536

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
546

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
438

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
501

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
623

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
580

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
462

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
315

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
430

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
466

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
430

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
315

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
462

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
580

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
623

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
501

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
497

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
579

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
551

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
451

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
499

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
587

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
499

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
367

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
451

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
551

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
579

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
497

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
404

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
361

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
416

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
455

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
511

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
455

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
416

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
361

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
387

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
404

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
345

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
358

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
347

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
344

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
420

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
437

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
429

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
420

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
344

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
347

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
358

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
345

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
365

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
346

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
382

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
398

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
382

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
346

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
365

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
391

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
335

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
371

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
297

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
295

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
297

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
371

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
335

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
391

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
390

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
0.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
0.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
1.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
1.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
1.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
0.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
0.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
0.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
1.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
0.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
1.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
1.60



Designed to meet LTA recommended
Standards
PPA = 400-500lux (maintained) 0.70,in/ave
Uniformity.
TPA = 300-400lux (maintained) 0.60,in/ave
Uniformity.

All floodlights mounted at 7 metres

Design completed using a total of
10 No ClearFlood Large BVP657 T25
1xLED850-4S/730 FP A55 - LO
04 No OptiVision 2 module BVP518 IN T45
1xLED1060-4S/730/730 E3/D4I A55-NMB
LTM

All fittings are fitted with internal louvres to
reduce obtrusive light.

Courts 1&2 and Courts 2&3 share the
BVP518 fittings

MF 0.95 - Performance
MF 1.0 Overspill (Worst case when new)

Ev grids added to 6 No Houses South of
Courts - All results < 1 lux
Observers placed outside each house to
measure Luminous Intensity
Ev Hedgerows East & S/W added along
tree lines1.5m up to 6m height
Max Ev value achieved is 1.8 lux

BVP657 BVP518 Internal
Louvre for
BVP518

Project Name

Drawing Name

7m BVP518/BVP657 Combo
Spill - LTA - R1

PROPOSAL
(NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION)

Notes:

1) Unless agreed otherwise, the lighting proposal produced by the Lighting Application Specialist (LiAS) team of Signify UK&I is not intended for
construction purposes, as it does not take into account the elimination of health and safety risks at this stage. For further details please refer
to sheet number DWG 00

2) Do not scale for this drawing

Scale & Sheet Size

1:200 @ A1
Sheet No

SP-DWG 01

Project Number

Heyes Lane Tennis Club,
Alderley Edge

Rev DSR no. Comment Date
0 D-577194 BVP518 / BVP651 Combo 7m Perform & Spill Results - LTA 04/07/24

KAMLiAS
APSJ 04010145391 D-593074 BVP518 / BVP657 Combo 7m Perform & Spill Results - LTA All LO Louvre 11/09/24 APSJ

P
age 55

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
Hse 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
Hse 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
Hse 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
Hse 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
Hse 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
Hse 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
0.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
0.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
0.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
0.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
0.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
0.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
0.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
0.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
0.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
0.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
0.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
0.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
0.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
0.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
0.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
0.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
0.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
0.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
0.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
0.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
0.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
0.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
0.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
0.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
0.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
0.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
0.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
0.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
0.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
0.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
0.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
0.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
0.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
0.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
0.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
0.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
0.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
0.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
0.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
0.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
0.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
0.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
0.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
0.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
0.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
0.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
0.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
0.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
0.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
0.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
0.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
0.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
0.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
0.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
0.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
0.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
0.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
0.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
0.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
0.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
0.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
0.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
0.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
0.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
1.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
0.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
1.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
0.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
0.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
0.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
1.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
1.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
0.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
0.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
1.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
0.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
0.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
0.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
0.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
0.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
1.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
0.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
1.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
1.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
0.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
0.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
1.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
1.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
1.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
0.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
0.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
0.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
1.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
1.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
0.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
0.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
1.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
1.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
1.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
1.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
420

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
530

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
369

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
369

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
530

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
420

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
569

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
610

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
339

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
472

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
339

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
610

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
569

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
381

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
398

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
472

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
495

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
472

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
398

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
380

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
445

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
502

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
396

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
460

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
393

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
499

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
443

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
378

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
506

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
376

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
412

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
443

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
503

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
401

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
477

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
400

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
503

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
443

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
393

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
417

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
528

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
417

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
393

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
581

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
633

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
381

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
592

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
381

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
633

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
581

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
415

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
526

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
364

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
456

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
364

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
526

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
415

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
300

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
300

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
300



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 24/2602M - NEW BARN FARM CHELFORD ROAD, OLLERTON, KNUTSFORD, CHESHIRE EAST, WA16 8SZ: Demolition of existing equestrian buildings, construction of dwellings and alterations to access
	24 2602M Key Plans
	Front Page
	23-423 - Location plan V2 - 1.0
	L694 02 Existing SitePlan-1.0
	L694-19-SchemeGBlockPlan
	Access-Plan


	6 24/4944/FUL - HEYES LANE TENNIS CLUB, THE CIRCUIT, ALDERLEY EDGE, CHESHIRE EAST, SK9 7LT: Installation of New Court Lighting for all 3 courts
	24 4944 FUL Key Plans
	Front Page
	TQRQM25015112902563-location-plan
	TQRQM25015113355328-proposed-site-block-plan-with-lighting-poles
	Form D (2) Google map overlay_D-593074 - Heyes Lane T C lighting designer
	Sheets and Views
	D-593074 - Heyes Lane T C BVP518-BVP657 Combo Results Drg - R1-DWG 00 - Sport
	D-593074 - Heyes Lane T C BVP518-BVP657 Combo Results Drg - R1-Performance PR-DWG 01 - A1
	D-593074 - Heyes Lane T C BVP518-BVP657 Combo Results Drg - R1-Spill SP-DWG 01 - A1





